University of Texas at El Paso ScholarWorks@UTEP

Open Access Theses & Dissertations

2022-12-01

Predictive Utility of the El Paso Pretrial Risk Assessment Instrument - Revised (EPPRA-R)

Chelsea Sierra Queen University of Texas at El Paso

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.utep.edu/open_etd

Part of the Other Psychology Commons

Recommended Citation

Queen, Chelsea Sierra, "Predictive Utility of the El Paso Pretrial Risk Assessment Instrument - Revised (EPPRA-R)" (2022). *Open Access Theses & Dissertations*. 3714. https://scholarworks.utep.edu/open_etd/3714

This is brought to you for free and open access by ScholarWorks@UTEP. It has been accepted for inclusion in Open Access Theses & Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@UTEP. For more information, please contact www.web.access.org administrator of ScholarWorks@UTEP. For more information, please contact www.web.access.org administrator of ScholarWorks@UTEP. For more information, please contact www.web.access.org administrator of ScholarWorks@UTEP. For more information, please contact www.web.access.org administrator of ScholarWorks@UTEP. For more information, please contact www.web.access.org administrator of ScholarWorks@UTEP. For more information, please contact www.web.access.org administrator of ScholarWorks@UTEP. For more information, please contact www.web.access.org administrator of ScholarWorks@UTEP. For more information, please contact www.web.access.org administrator of ScholarWorks@UTEP. For more information, please contact www.web.access.org administrator of ScholarWorks@UTEP.

PREDICTIVE UTILITY OF THE EL PASO PRETRIAL RISK ASSESSMENT INSTRUMENT - REVISED (EPPRA-R)

CHELSEA SIERRA QUEEN

Master's Program in Experimental Psychology

APPROVED:

Jennifer Eno Louden, Ph.D., Chair

Krystia Reed, J.D., Ph.D.

Ozvaldo Morera, Ph.D.

Theodore Curry, Ph.D.

Stephen L. Crites, Jr., Ph.D. Dean of the Graduate School Copyright ©

by

Chelsea Sierra Queen

Dedication

I want to dedicate this piece of work to my partner and support system, Stephen. Thank you – for truly everything. I would also like to extend this dedication to my family for continually encouraging all of my pursuits. Lastly, and arguably most important, this research would have simply not been possible without the love and support from my animals: Marilyn, Adam, Ellie, and the memory of our wonderful Jade.

PREDICTIVE UTILITY OF THE EL PASO PRETRIAL RISK ASSESSMENT INSTRUMENT - REVISED (EPPRA-R)

by

CHELSEA SIERRA QUEEN, B.S.

THESIS

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of

The University of Texas at El Paso

in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements

for the Degree of

MASTER OF ARTS

Department of Psychology THE UNIVERSITY OF TEXAS AT EL PASO December 2022

Acknowledgements

I want to extend the greatest level of gratitude to my mentor and committee chair, Dr. Jennifer Eno Louden, for her incredible patience, support, and editing skills – they truly are magic. I would also like to acknowledge my committee members, Drs. Krystia Reed, Ted Curry, and Ozvaldo ("Ozzie") Morera for their invaluable insight and feedback throughout this process. Additionally – to Grace Hanzelin – your support and assistance throughout this process has not for a moment gone unnoticed. Thank you!

I want to also express my gratitude for the folks at El Paso County for entrusting me with this project. And to Jacob Meils, your endless and unwavering willingness to assist made the learning curve all the more enjoyable.

Lastly, I cannot properly express just how thankful I am to the research assistants I have working on this project: Paola Zuniga, Natalia Pomales-Rivera, Alexa Ramirez, Paula Rodriguez, Allyssa Barraza, Briana Armendariz, and Vianney De La Cruz. We quite literally could not have done this without all of your attention to detail and hours of data collection. A simple "Thank you" doesn't seem to suffice.

Abstract

Pretrial risk assessments are used to divert defendants from pretrial detention by estimating risk of pretrial specific outcomes (i.e., failure to appear, rearrest). Ongoing validation of this tool is recommended to assess accuracy and ensure that there is no bias against specific subgroups (e.g., gender, race/ethnicity, or age) of defendants. The present study evaluates the utility of a locally developed instrument in El Paso County – a predominantly Latinx county. Area Under the Curve (AUC) Receiving Operator Condition (ROC) analyses indicate statistically "fair" predictive utility for the tool. Binary logistic regression models suggest no evidence of bias. This study will provide direct and significant outcome information to key stakeholders in the community and inform future validation efforts with diverse populations in pretrial settings.

Dedicationiii
Acknowledgementsv
Table of Contents vii
List of Tablesix
List of Figuresx
Predictive Utility of the El Paso Pretrial Risk Assessment Instrument – Revised
Bail Reform1
The Federal Bail Reform Act of 1984
United States v. Salerno (1987)4
Bail Reform in Texas4
Risk Assessments6
Risk Assessment Utility7
Pretrial Risk Assessments
Risk Assessment Tools Implemented in a Pretrial Setting10
Biases within Pretrial Risk Assessment11
The Present Study16
Method
Participants18
Materials19
Measure of Risk19
Criminal Outcomes

Table of Contents

Outcome Variables	20
Procedure	21
Analytic Plan	22
Results	24
Descriptives	24
Accuracy of the Pretrial Risk Assessment Instrument	26
Binary Models	30
Discussion	33
Accuracy in Predictive Utility	33
Fairness in Predictive Utility	34
Limitations	36
Implications	38
References	40
Appendix A: El Paso Pretrial Risk Assessment Instrument – Revised (EPPRA-R)	51
Appendix B: El Paso Pretrial Risk Assessment Instrument (EPPRA)	53
Appendix C: Virginia Pretrial Risk Assessment Instrument (VPRAI)	54
Appendix D: Coding Book	55
Vita	60

List of Tables

Table 1: Demographic Information of Participants	24
Table 2: Predictive Utility for Defendant Subgroup	27
Table 3: Summary of Binary Logistic Regression Analysis for Trial Outcomes	31

List of Figures

Figure 1: Accuracy of Predicted Risk Scores on Pretrial Outcomes	.28
Figure 2: Accuracy of Predicted Risk Scores on Pretrial Outcomes by Race	.28
Figure 3: Accuracy of Predicted Risk Scores on Pretrial Outcomes by Ethnicity	.29
Figure 4: Accuracy of Predicted Risk Scores on Pretrial Outcomes by Gender	.29
Figure 5: Accuracy of Predicted Risk Scores on Pretrial Outcomes by Age	.30

Predictive Utility of the El Paso Pretrial Risk Assessment Instrument – Revised

Among those incarcerated in the United States' correctional system, approximately 746,000 are residing in local and federal jails (Prison Policy Initiative, 2020). Of that population, 74% are waiting for trial and not yet convicted of a crime (Milgram et al., 2015; Prison Policy Initiative, 2020). This period of time is defined as pretrial detention.

Consistent with correctional facilities more generally, jail facilities are overpopulated. Large bodies of research have repeatedly reported the harmful effects of pretrial detention on incarcerated people (Heaton et al., 2017; Dobbie et al., 2016); thus, emerging research has aimed to reduce jail populations by diverging defendants away from pretrial detention (Lowder et al., 2020b). One such tactic that has gained empirical interest in the incorporation of risk assessment instruments into the pretrial space. Risk assessments are actuarial tools used to measure one's likelihood of reoffending (Bechtel et al., 2017), and ensuring the general public's safety (Monahan & Skeem, 2016) once a defendant is released from jail or prison. Large-scale attempts have been made to diverge defendants from jail through the implementation of pretrial risk assessments and bail reform legislation (Lowder et al., 2020; Bechtel et al., 2017; Ares, Rankin, & Sturz, 1963).

Bail Reform

Until the 1960's, cash bail was the main form of pretrial release (Van Brunt & Bowman, 2018). Cash bail is a method of pretrial release still used today; a financial amount is assigned to the defendant based on characteristics of their charge, and the defendant can choose to pay said amount for their release. The purpose of financial bail was to ensure the return of defendants to court for their pretrial hearing (Palafox & McLeod, 2019). However, given the financial component, this design has been argued that cash bail favors defendants based on wealth, rather

than any other factors that should be considered for release (e.g., guilt, likelihood to appear at court, potential risk; Monaghan et al., 2020; Van Brunt & Bowman, 2018; Leslie & Pope, 2017). Advocates for a reduction in pretrial detention largely argued that the current cash bail system was in place to permit judges to set bail at unaffordable rates without cause under the guise that such defendants were too dangerous to be released into the community (Goldkamp, 1985).

In the 1960's, engineers and businessmen alike engaged in discussion over cocktails about the current pretrial incarceration numbers (Smith, 2018). Their disbelief at the gravity of the situation, and money to contribute to the cause, resulted in the first cultural shift of bail reform by way of The Manhattan Bail Project (Van Brunt & Bowman, 2018). The Manhattan Bail Project, started by the Vera Foundation in New York, introduced release on one's own recognizance (ROR), or personal recognizance (PR), bonds (Friedman, 1976, McElroy, 2011). The goal of such reform was to replace cash bond systems as means of pretrial release (Friedman, 1976). Through the Manhattan Bail Project initiative, those in pretrial detention who could not financially afford their set bail were identified and advocated that they be released on their own recognizance (Wiseman, 2014). This required that the individual was trusted to return to their set court date without having to pay money in order to be released from jail. The method of determination was based on interviews conducted prior to release and discussed defendants' community ties, and whether such ties were strong and reliable protective factors (Friedman, 1976, Smith, 2018).

By way of cultural and legislative changes, bail reform moved to its second wave – advocation for community safety. In the 1970's and around the time of deinstitutionalization – the "tough on crime" era – white flight and urban decay were rampant, and public calls for bail reform escalated (Monoghan et al., 2020; Smith, 2018; Van Brunt & Bowman, 2018). Political

rhetoric during this time was largely advocating for the importance of public safety over civil rights of those accused (Monoghan et al., 2020; Goldkamp, 1985).

The Federal Bail Reform Act of 1984

The Federal Bail Reform Act of 1984 was the result of such societal shift. The intent was to reclaim the use of cash bail systems and encourage pretrial detainment when needed if the release of defendants could put community safety in jeopardy (Van Brunt & Bowman, 2018). This movement advocated for preventative detention for pretrial defendants and prioritized community safety (Goldkamp, 1985, Smith, 2018). The Federal Bail Reform Act of 1984 established the first legal permission of pretrial detention in federal cases (Gain, 1988). Legal standards for preventative detention were first set by the District of Columbia Court Reform and Criminal Procedures Act of 1970, permitting considered dangerousness to the community as means for detainment (Scott, 1989). This Act was upheld in following legal proceedings (*United States* v. *Edwards*, 1974; *Schall* v. *Martin*, 1984), providing constitutional precedent to move forward and maintain preventative detention (Scott, 1989). However, this Act did not come without controversy.

The Federal Bail Reform Act of 1984 was argued by legal entities stating that the imposition of bail on citizens was in direct violation of multiple constitutional rights, the strongest of which is the Eighth Amendment. The Eighth Amendment "prohibits the federal government from imposing excessive bail, excessive fines, or cruel and unusual punishment" (U.S. Const. art. VIII). The Eighth Amendment is textually the most relevant portion of the Constitution discussing the imposition of bail on pretrial defendants (Van Brunt & Bowman, 2018; Wiseman, 2009). Regardless of community safety, any preventative detention through the

use of excessive bail could not be imposed. The landmark case in which this exact argument was brought forth was *United States* v. *Salerno* (1987).

United States v. Salerno (1987)

The Federal Bail Reform Act of 1984 was famously challenged in court when American Mafia member, Anthony Salerno, claimed that pretrial detention while awaiting trial violated his Eighth Amendment right (United States v. Salerno, 1987; Jacobs, 2019; Farmer, 1987; Wiseman, 2009). Prior to United States v. Salerno (1987), the Federal Bail Reform Act of 1984 had only applied to capital cases and had not been considered in lesser Courts (Farmer, 1987). Prosecution claimed that the violent history illustrated by the defendant permitted preventative detention while he awaited trial (United States v. Salerno, 1987). The Court granted preventative detention and the decision was upheld on appeal to the Second Circuit (United States v. Salerno, 1987). The primary argument used suggested the language in the Eighth Amendment inherently provides the right to bail, and denying that is strictly unconstitutional (Wiseman, 2009). Moreover, declaring preventative detention for community safety implies ambiguous detention periods, and thus denies a defendant the right to due process under the Fifth Amendment (Farmer, 1987). However, the Court held that the preventative detention imposed in Salerno (1987) did not violate such rights above and beyond what release would potentially create for public safety. This landmark case established precedent for the permission of preventative detention in any case that may impose potential threat to community safety. However, many states have independently built their own precedent in managing bail reform on local levels.

Bail Reform in Texas

Texas has commonly implemented a monetary bail schedule for misdemeanor offenses throughout its jurisdictions. This suggests that judges and magistrates could make

recommendations for financial bail amounts based on charge-types without any additional factors (e.g., criminal history, employment) playing a role in the release decision. Recent case law in Texas has challenged such a system, claiming the unconstitutional nature of money bail schedules. This is especially salient for indigent populations – those who experience heightened financial disadvantage within society – as they were often subject to monetary bail schedules (Hussmann & Seigel, 2019).

A suit was brought against Harris County, Texas, after defendants were given excessive bail despite their inability to pay (*O'Donnell* v. *Harris County*, 2019). The suit claimed the County set a wealth-based bail that violated due process and equal protection rights provided by the U. S. Constitution. The Court ruled in favor of the plaintiff, affirming that such money bail schedules were unconstitutional. Harris County appealed to the Fifth Circuit Court, but the ruling was held. It was quoted that a wealth-based bail schedule was a "basic injustice" that acted entirely unconstitutionally. This landmark case set important precedent for the Texas, stating that wealth-based bail schedules were unconstitutional and disproportionately targeting those categorized as indigent.

Shortly after *O'Donnell* v. *Harris County* (2018), a suit was brought against Dallas County, Texas for implementing monetary bail schedules predominately for those identified as indigent without judicial discretion permitted in bail decisions (*Daves* v. *Dallas County*, 2020). In partial support of the plaintiff, the Court only recommended that the use of monetary bail schedules be discontinued but required a time frame that must be utilized when making bail decisions for pretrial defendants. By this ruling, pretrial officers must determine the defendants' eligibility to pay bail, and they are required to ensure a hearing with a magistrate no later than 48 hours following arrest. This ruling aimed to decrease unnecessary pretrial detainment, while

providing defendants the time necessary to determine their personal financial conditions in preparation for bail decisions.

Case law proceeding these events extended beyond misdemeanor cases for indigent defendants and ensured that monetary bail schedules were not allowed for felony defendants; specifically, those that were unaware of their indigent status (*Booth* v. *Galveston County*, 2019; *Russell* v. *Harris County*, 2020). While *Russell* v. *Harris County* (2020) is ongoing, closing remarks for *Booth* v. *Galveston County* (2019) supported the plaintiff and required counsel at initial bail hearings for defendants. This decision supersedes the felonious aspect to the case, as it prioritized indigent status in need of bail sentencing counsel.

These landmark cases in Texas state law have built stronger consideration into pretrial detainment than it had implemented in the past. On a national scale, more progressive-leaning political agendas have encouraged a return to the initial 1960's bail reform movement by recommending the elimination of cash bail once again (Monaghan et al., 2020). By way of this, years of research have developed more empirically sound methods of encouraging pretrial decarceration, such as integrating risk assessment tools into pretrial settings.

Risk Assessments

Across the United States, correctional agencies and policy makers alike have been working to erode the mass incarceration that overpopulates these facilities. One such method has been to implement risk assessment instruments. Risk assessments have been used in various points throughout the criminal justice system since the 1920's (DeMichele et al., 2019; Singh, 2012) to both decrease re-offending and decarceration efforts (Monahan & Skeem, 2016). They are actuarial tools designed to quantify risk and protective factors – such as criminal history and family ties, respectively – to produce an overall risk (e.g., violence, violating conditions) score

(Desmarais & Lowder, 2019). The goals of these tools are to assist with post-adjudication decision-making for release, treatment mandates, and long-term recidivism outcomes (Cadigan & Lowencamp, 2011; Viljoen et al., 2019). Many risk assessment tools have been developed for various offending populations, yet each ultimately aim to determine the potential risk of criminal behavior once released back into the general community (Kroner et al., 2003).

Risk Assessment Utility

Many risk assessment tools have been developed and validated to best address release decisions, supervision recommendations, treatment mandates, and projected recidivism estimates (Viljoen et al., 2019; Cadigan & Lowenkamp, 2011). Such tools were built to provide structured approaches to post-adjudication decisions, which have resulted in more positive outcomes (i.e., lower recidivism) for justice-involved persons (Desmarais et al., 2016). To ensure tool accuracy, components are statistically assessed. We will review factors that are statistically predictive of risk, and how such items are evaluated to determine instrument accuracy.

Risk Factors. Risk categories are populated by scoring empirically founded risk and protective factors for each individual assessed (Singh, 2012; Andrews et al., 2006). Risk factors are characteristics that, when present, may be indicative of outcome failure (e.g., violence, non-adherence to treatment, etc.; Ullrich & Coid, 2011). Risk factors include static factors, such as criminal history and a history of drug abuse (Andrews & Bonta, 2010); and dynamic factors, such as antisocial personality processes (e.g., anger, impulsivity, sensation-seeking behaviors), antisocial cognitions (e.g., crime supported thoughts and values), and antisocial peers (Andrews & Bonta, 2010; Skeem et al., 2013; Skeem & Monahan, 2020; Walters & DeLisi, 2013; Wooditch et al., 2014). Dynamic risk factors are considered more amenable to change, and changes in them in either direction are associated with changes in criminal behavior (Andrews &

Bonta, 2010; Wooditch et al., 2014). Protective factors are social "buffers" such as prosocial involvement (e.g., helping others) and strong social supports that help deter individuals from crime (Soderstrom et a., 2020; Sharma et al., 2019; Singh, 2012).

Validation Efforts. Quantifying such risk and protective factors provide categorical estimates for one's risk through varying points of the criminal justice system. To ensure that these tools are empirically sound and unbiased, validation efforts are common. Such efforts assess for predictive validity (i.e., scores assessed at an earlier time are accurately predictive of the outcome; Wei-Ling & Yao 2014) and predictive bias (i.e., mis-predicting outcomes based on grouping characteristic; Yang et al., 2021) (Desmarais et al., 2016; Skeem & Lowenkamp, 2016).

Validation efforts are often conducted to assess risk assessment tools for errors and fairness in risk classification across groups (e.g., race and ethnicity) and general accuracy of the tool (Zottola et al., 2021; Cohen & Lowenkamp, 2019; Berk et al., 2018). Accuracy of the tool is commonly expressed via classification indicators: true-positive, false-positive, true-negative, false-negative. These four classification indicators are collectively indexed by Area Under the Curve (AUC) analyses, which report whether the tool was accurately predictive of recidivism rates pertaining to defendants within risk categories. Moreover, validation efforts ensure calibration of the tool, suggesting that classification errors are not distributed unfairly based on group characteristics, such as race and ethnicity (Cohen & Lowenkamp, 2019). Regardless of the tool, validation efforts are critical for fair implementation among population variation that may be assessed using such a tool.

Risk Assessment Tools. A number of risk assessment tools were developed to target and address such post-adjudication sentencing, treatment, and/or supervision (Cadigan &

Lowenkamp, 2011). The first reported risk assessment tool was developed by Dr. Ernest Burgess in 1928 to assess risk of recidivism for those placed on parole in Illinois (Singh, 2012). As risk assessment research evolved, actuarial tools have been developed in applied settings (e.g., corrections, clinical) to predict varying types of risk (Desmarais et al., 2016; Picard-Fritsche et al., 2017). Specific to risk assessments in correctional settings, numerous tools have been developed to assess potential future recidivism. The Correctional Offender Management Profile for Alternative Sanctions (COMPAS; Brennan et al., 2009) and the Level of Service Inventory – Revised (LSI-R; Andrews & Bonta, 1998) were both developed for all justice-involved persons in the criminal justice system to assess for any recidivism. This refers to any new offense or violation of set conditions (Desmarais et al., 2016). However, the Ohio Risk Assessment – Reentry Tool (Latessa et al., 2009) targets all justice-involved persons for only new offenses (excluding parole violations). Other risk assessments, such as the Salient Factor Score -1981 Version (Hoffman, 1983), are specifically designed to assess risk for people being released to parole.

Pretrial Risk Assessments

Bail reform efforts have encouraged the integration of risk assessment tools to be used in a pretrial setting. In doing so, post-adjudication risk assessment tools have been revised to be more applicable for pretrial defendants. Recall that post-adjudication risk assessment tools are structured to assess risk of recidivism (i.e., new arrests or violation of parole conditions) for populations that have already been sentenced (Desmarais et a., 2016; Skeem & Lowenkamp, 2016). Pretrial risk assessments, while similar in theory, are intended to predict risk of pretrial specific outcomes, such as the likelihood of defendants appearing in court, avoiding rearrest if released to the community, and any potential threat to community safety if one is released to the

community prior to their trial (Desmarais et al., 2020; Adler et al., 2019; Cohen & Lowenkamp, 2019). While case law has found that the use of pretrial risk assessment tools alone is not permissible for release decision-making (*Wisconsin* v. *Eric Loomis*, 2016), the implementation of said tools was designed to contribute to the overall determination of pretrial detention or release (Desmarais et al., 2021). Additional goals of introducing risk assessments in pretrial settings were to limit the unpredictable and discriminatory nature of human decision-making in pretrial release decisions (Dalakian, 2018), reduce pretrial detention (Lowder et al., 2020a; Olseson et al., 2016), and aid release decisions to those who may not be able to financially afford bail (Dalakain, 2018; Petee, 1994). At this time, approximately 88% of pretrial departments across the United States use risk assessment tools to guide such decisions (Viljoen et al., 2019). Moreover, each of the 50 states in the United States have implemented some form of pretrial legal reform (Desmarais et al., 2021). The expansive nature of bail reform integrating pretrial risk assessment instruments in decision-making has strengthened the work in developing such tools.

Risk Assessment Tools Implemented in a Pretrial Setting

Similar to post-adjudication tools assessing risk, pretrial risk assessment instruments are structured by quantifying risk and protective factors pertaining to each defendant respectively (Desmarais et al., 2020). The first risk assessment tool implemented in a pretrial setting was the Vera Point Scale; a component of the Manhattan Bail Project in 1961 (Desmarais et al., 2020; Ares et al., 1963). Empirically improved instruments were developed over the following years to implement in pretrial settings across the nation, targeting varying uses for the tool (Desmarais et al., 2020). The Virginia Pretrial Risk Assessment Instrument (VPRAI; VanNostrand, 2003) and the Ohio Risk Assessment System-Pretrial Assessment Tool (ORAS-PAT; Latessa et al., 2020) were two tools developed for individual jurisdictions that were then disseminated and used by others across the country. The Public Safety Assessment (PSA; Lowenkamp et al., 2013) was developed with the intention to be easily integrated into different jurisdictions and publicly available to do so. Additionally, the Pretrial Risk Assessment (PTRA; Lowenkamp & Whetzel, 2009) was developed to target federal pretrial defendants specifically. Each of these tools have undergone validation efforts (Desmarais et al., 2020; Cowen & Lowenkamp, 2016), but concerns remain. For example, initial (Cadigan & Lowenkamp, 2011) and secondary validation (Cohen and Lowenkamp, 2019) efforts conducted on the PTRA suggested that the tool fairly predicted pretrial outcomes across groups. However, secondary data analyses of this tool portray unfair predictions for marginalized racial groups (Desmarais et al., 2021; Lowder & Wilson, 2021; Zottola et al., 2021; Desmarais et al., 2020). Desmarais and colleagues (2021) advocate for additional work with the PTRA, VPRAI, and PSA due to the insufficient empirical evidence for predictive utility and fairness.

Biases within Pretrial Risk Assessment

While the implementation of these tools is expansive, it does not come without controversy. By providing numeric value to defendants' risk, jail facilities and judges making pretrial decisions are doing so with limited potential human bias associated with outcomes (Desmarais et al., 2020). However, utilizing actuarial tools in replacement of, or in tandem with, judges' decision-making has come with strong opposition and contradicting research. Critics of the use of pretrial risk assessments and their use in pretrial decision-making claim that biases are integrated within the tool itself, thus continuing inequity within release decisions (Adler et al., 2019; Berk et al., 2018).

Judicial Decision-Making. Pretrial risk assessment tools are designed to aid judges and magistrates when making pretrial release decisions (Dalakian, 2018; Bybee, 2012). This is in part due to the knowledge that human judgement is inherently influenced by personal beliefs, which can reflect inaccurate stereotypes that contribute to biased and erroneous decision-making (Desmarais et al., 2021; Desmarais & Lowder, 2019; Bybee, 2012). Such influences are often called legal (e.g., criminal history) and extralegal (e.g., age, race, gender) factors that play a role in decision-making (Oleson et al., 2016; Alarid & Montemayor). This is especially salient within pretrial decision-making, as empirical work suggests such bias (e.g., racial and ethnic) is prevalent in this context. For example, Bushway and Piehl (2001) have noted that judicial pretrial decision-making alone results in Black defendants receiving 20% longer sentences than White defendants. However, if legal factors were exclusively considered in this decision, Black defendants would receive only three percent longer sentences than White defendants. Additionally, a compilation of pretrial outcomes based on judicial decisions point to Black and Latino defendants found to be more likely to have bail denied and detained during their pretrial period following a control for legal factors. Moreover, previous research has suggested that mental health, community ties, and a defendant's drug usage and history are also considered in pretrial decisions (Alarid & Montemayor, 2010). Such considerations are outside of the factors pertaining to pretrial risk assessment tools, and thus are unlikely to be properly used in decisionmaking (Barno et al., 2020).

Although utilizing risk assessment tools are more favorable to judicial discretion exclusively, the limitations present with the use of actuarial tools in such events must be acknowledged. This point is exacerbated given pretrial decisions may have a significant impact on defendants' outcomes later on (Alarid & Montemayor, 2010). Critics of the implementation

of pretrial risk assessments point to the potential bias towards subgroups of defendants embedded within such tools, arguing that their use will only exacerbate inequity amongst those incarcerated (Viljoen et al., 2019). As we discuss next, bias in risk assessment tools has been identified pertaining to defendants' racial and ethnic identity, gender, and age.

Racial and Ethnic Bias. Arguably the most salient concern of bias within actuarial tools is the potential variation among racial and ethnic groups' predicted risk scores. Opponents of actuarial tools in legal decision-making claim that even when controlling for legal factors (e.g., criminal history), extralegal factors such as employment and marital status may act as a "proxy" for race and have comparable legal outcomes (Harcourt, 2015; Starr, 2014). However, validation efforts of pretrial and post-adjudication risk assessments tools suggest predictive validity is consistent across groups (Desmarais et al., 2020; Cowen & Lowenkamp, 2016).

While this notion is promising, not all tool validation efforts have taken the role disparate impact may play when determining pretrial outcomes into consideration. Disparate impact posits that larger numbers of ethnic and racial minorities are represented in the justice system at a higher rate than their White counterparts due to systemic differences in resource allocation resulting in a higher rate of incarceration (Clair & Winter, 2016; Skeem & Lowenkamp, 2016b). Such groups are often more likely to experience over-policing of community neighborhoods, social disadvantages, and fewer opportunities for education and employment that could result in higher risk scores (Viljoen et al., 2019). These considerations in turn increase the correlation between race and criminal history as direct (i.e., legal) factors used in algorithmic risk scores (Berk et al., 2018; Desmarais et al., 2021; Clair & Winter, 2016).

Some tools more than others have been under strict criticism for bias within the instruments. For example, the Correctional Offender Management Profiling for Alternative

Sanctions (COMPAS; Northpointe, 2015), used in post-adjudication settings to predict recidivism for all adult justice-involved populations showed on multiple occasions to find Black defendants twice as likely for rearrest, when their White counterparts' outcomes were similar across race (Adler et al., 2019). Moreover, the reverse was found for White defendants, as they were more likely to inaccurately be categorized as low risk in comparison to their Black counterparts (Larson et al., 2016). While biases within a tool depend which tool is being used, the concern that any tool being utilized may increase punitive punishments for racial and ethnic groups is substantial reason enough to continue validation efforts.

Gender Bias. Many validation efforts suggest fair predictive utility across genders (Desmarais et al., 2020; Desmarais et al., 2016). However, feminist literature argues that pathways to offending differ between genders, and as such inherently include biases within actuarial tools (Gehring, 2018; Gehring & Van Voorhis, 2014). Research suggests that women are more likely to engage in criminal behavior due to factors that vary from men, such as employment, substance use, abuse, mental health, and homelessness (Gehring & Van Voorhis, 2014). Average risk assessment tools utilized in pre- and post- adjudication settings do not take specific considerations of the differences in criminal behavior etiologies, resulting in potential inaccuracies for women's calculated risk scores (Huebner et al., 2010). As such, present bias has been empirically shown through poor predictive utility in assessments of the post-adjudication.

Analyses of the Level of Service/Case Management Inventory (LS/CMI; Andrews et al., 2004) posit that post-adjudication risk is accurately predictive of women who are economically advantageous, but that women who experience gendered pathways into crime are predicted as higher risk than other justice-involved women (Reisig et al., 2006). Moreover, the Post-Conviction Risk Assessment (PCRA) shows that while re-arrest rates are equally predictive

between men and women during post-adjudication, the PCRA overestimates recidivism (i.e., violation of conditions) for women (Skeem et al., 2016; Van Voorhis et al., 2010; Vose et al., 2009). However, little work has been done in assessing a gender bias present in specifically pretrial tools. At present, research suggests that pretrial risk assessment tools do not utilize gender-responsive needs (e.g., employment, substance use, abuse, mental health, homelessness) to their fullest extent (Gehring & Van Voorhis, 2014; Desmarais et al., 2020). As such, arguments are made that further assessment of pretrial risk assessment instruments must be conducted to advance our understanding of potential gendered bias integrated in these tools.

Age Bias. Additional bias considerations in pre- and post- adjudication risk assessment tools, such as age, are underreported. In general, research suggests that young adults often commit crimes at a higher rate than older adults with justice-involvement, and this may make them seem more culpable in a legal setting (Monahan et al., 2017; Bushway & Piehl, 2007). Older adults are more likely to decrease in offending due to simple maturation. Age in sentencing is a control for exposure time that is useful to make inferences about rates of offending and desistence probabilities (Bushway & Piehl, 2007). However, research has suggested that due to the reliance of criminal history in predicting risk, age overpredicts risk for older defendants (Monahan et al., 2017).

This foundation of bias towards age in decision-making is reflected in empirical assessments of risk. However, information around bias across age groups is largely dependent on the tool being used (Viljoen et al., 2019). For example, the Post-Conviction Risk Assessment (PCRA) was empirically shown to underestimate risk for younger justice-involved persons, and similarly overestimate risk for older justice-involved persons (Monahan et al., 2017). Yet, similar to research on gender bias existing in risk assessment tools, the understanding of age bias is

largely lacking in pretrial risk instruments. This, too, encourages additional work to be done to further understand how age may impact predictive risk scores, specifically in a pretrial setting.

The Present Study

Approximately 80% of literature assessing pretrial risk assessments instruments is largely based on legal reviews and policy pieces, and do not utilize formal data (Bechtel et al., 2017). This can hinder empirical progress and continued methodological rigor when discussing effective means of pretrial diversion. In January of 2016, El Paso County implemented a modified version of the Virginia Pretrial Risk Assessment Instrument (VPRAI), the El Paso Pretrial Risk Assessment (EPPRA), to better orient the tool to serve the community demographics. This study looks to add to the needed body of work by empirically assessing the El Paso Pretrial Risk Assessment Instrument – Revised (EPPRA-R).

In April of 2019, data analysts of the El Paso County Criminal Justice Coordination Department assessed the original tool and validated the instrument on El Paso's local population. Recommendations based on empirical findings were made (i.e., two item were removed due to lack of predictive utility towards risk), which has since resulted in the revised tool: El Paso Pretrial Risk Assessment – Revised. The newly revised tool sorts defendants into four categories based on their risk likelihood, which is calculated from eight risk factors predicting both recidivism and failure to appear for court (i.e., FTA). Scores on the EPPRA-R are empirically based and derived from data from past defendants in El Paso. Many of the items are scored based on criminal justice records (e.g., current charges, history of violence), whereas some items are scored based on information obtained from the defendant at the time of the assessment (e.g., employment status, residential stability). This study will serve to assess the validity of the revised tool in the local El Paso population.

In doing so, this study will seek to (1) determine the accuracy of the tool in predicting defendants' likelihood of failure-to-appear for trial and recidivating, and (2) determine whether there are any potential biases towards subgroups of defendants (e.g., women, members of ethnic minority groups) within the tool. It is hypothesized that:

- 1. The El Paso Pretrial Risk Assessment Instrument Revised will have stronger predictive utility than the original assessment.
- The El Paso Pretrial Risk Assessment Instrument Revised will overpredict re-arrest and FTA ratees for racial and ethnic minorities.
- 3. The El Paso Pretrial Risk Assessment Instrument Revised will overpredict negative outcomes for women.
- 4. The El Paso Pretrial Risk Assessment will provide predictive utility across age groups.
- 5. The El Paso Pretrial Risk Assessment Instrument Revised will overpredict negative outcomes for women of ethnic and racial minority groups compared to white women.

Method

Participants

Participants in this study include individuals that were arrested, brought to the El Paso County jail, and administered a pretrial risk assessment from the dates April 02, 2019, to May 2020. April 02, 2019 is the date that El Paso County formally integrated the El Paso Pretrial Risk Assessment – Revised into daily use. Almost every individual who is arrested and booked at the El Paso County jail is eligible to receive a risk assessment interview. Those who do not have a pretrial risk assessment conducted at the time of pretrial booking are those booked on tickets (a court date set for misdemeanors without bringing an individual in to jail for booking), detainers (a rebooking of an inmate currently incarcerated on a new charge), and bench warrants (the issuing of a warrant for one's arrest by a sitting judge). Each defendant included in this study was 17 years of age or older, as Texas remains one of four states that continues to consider adolescents at the age of 17 an adult within the criminal justice system (Texas Criminal Justice Coalition, 2021). In line with previous pretrial risk assessment validation literature, a statistical power analysis to determine sample size was not needed, as previous work can be used to guide sample size (Lowder et al., 2020; Cohen & Lowenkamp, 2019). To ensure that this study met power as an added safeguard, we conducted a post-hoc power analysis of a logistic regression on the binary race variable using G*Power software. Using a two-tailed approach with an indicated α =.05, a power level of 0.99 was detected suggesting our sample was sufficiently powered to detect effects in this sample. Participants (n=2,153) were predominantly White (n=1,925, 89.4%)males (n=1,758, 81.7%) with an average age of 31.6 years. The majority (n=1,297, 60.2%) of participants identified as Hispanic or Latino.

Materials

This study utilized data accessed via El Paso County permissions. Pretrial risk assessments were made available to researchers, which were used to complete initial individual searches on the County's criminal database, Odyssey, a secure network as agreed upon between El Paso County and The University of Texas at El Paso.

Measure of Risk

The El Paso Pretrial Risk Assessment Instrument – Revised (Appendix A) was used to measure defendants' risk for this study. The first rendition of this tool (El Paso Pretrial Risk Assessment Instrument; EPPRA; Appendix B) was influenced by the validated Virginia Pretrial Risk Assessment Instrument (VPRAI; VanNostrand, 2003) and implemented in El Paso County prior to 2017. See Appendix C for the original VPRAI tool. The EPPRA tool was designed by county personnel to reflect items utilized by the VPRAI but was altered to better suit the resident demographic of El Paso County more accurately. The initial tool was assessed for face validity in early 2019 and determined to be sufficiently predictive with minor modifications. Such modifications included the removal of two risk items ("Current charge felony or violent misdemeanor?" and "Any outstanding warrants in other jurisdictions?"), and the addition of one item ("Age 18.5 or under at the time of booking") based on results of the analyses and resulted in the EPPRA-R. This risk assessment tool includes six items directly assessing risk (e.g., "Does the defendant have any prior charges?"), general demographic information (age, gender, race), general criminal history details (felonies and misdemeanors), and other bond considerations specific to a defendant (e.g., "Are you a veteran or active in the U.S. military?" and "Length at Current Address?"). Item responses related to criminal history are auto populated using the

Texas Department of Public Safety criminal history database. Extralegal items on the assessment are verbally asked of the defendant at the time of booking.

Criminal Outcomes

Odyssey is an online, central repository for all data utilized by the Texas criminal justice system. This database provides information relevant to defendants' pretrial outcomes, such as a failure to appear to their hearing, or failure to comply with parole conditions. Odyssey contains highly confidential information and researchers require additional authorization by El Paso County for access. Such information includes arrest records, bond decisions, and court documents relevant to the specific case. All this information will be used to determine pretrial outcomes during data collection.

Following the initial data pull, researchers will collect additional outcome data provided by the Texas Department of Public Safety through a criminal history request¹. This is intended to match individuals with any possible re-offenses throughout the state of Texas, as Odyssey provides criminal history limited to El Paso County. For further outcome data, we want to ensure that any crime committed outside of El Paso County is accounted for to the best of our abilities.

Outcome Variables

This study assessed defendants' pretrial outcomes, such as failure to appear (FTA) and recidivism after pretrial release. While both events are separate in their own right, the instrument being used creates a composite score: Pretrial Success (Yes; No). For example, if a defendant followed all necessary conditions to their release, but failed to appear to their scheduled court date, then they would be categorized as failing during their pretrial period. These outcome

¹ Data provided by Texas Department of Public Safety has not yet occurred. Obtaining these data require the research to be federally funded. Necessary funding is currently pending approval. Once funding has been approved, this portion of the procedure will continue.

variables were then assessed for any biases evident across groups (race, ethnic identity, gender, age).

Failure to Appear. A failure to appear (FTA) signifies that a defendant has missed their scheduled court date. This is a binary outcome (Yes; No) in data collection.

Failure to Comply. A failure to comply outcome is synonymous with any form of recidivism by a defendant. In this context, recidivism refers to a defendant committing a new crime while released during their pretrial period, or a violation of their probation conditions (e.g., failing to meet with their probation officer once a month). A new arrest is delineated by a violent or non-violent arrest pending trial; both items are answered on a binary (Yes; No) scale. Regardless of how a defendant has recidivated (arrested on a new charge or brought in for failure to comply), it is collapsed into a binary (Yes; No) outcome of failure. A violent arrest was assessed in separation to general outcomes.

Procedure

Researchers associated with this study were required to become an intern with El Paso County, as this was necessary for access to the required information. Upon completing all documentation necessary to become properly associated with the County, researchers were sufficiently trained on the database used to hold criminal records within El Paso County. By having access to this information, researchers were able to identify defendants that were arrested in El Paso County and had a pretrial risk assessment conducted at the time of booking. This is limited to those that were assessed between April 02, 2019, to present. This date is specific to an additional modification of the risk assessment tool as previously noted. The identifying information (first name, last name, date of birth) of each defendant that had been assessed was used to search Odyssey to determine whether they failed to appear at their assigned court date

and/or a failure to comply with their pretrial supervision conditions in El Paso County. Given the highly confidential nature of this data, security measures were put in place to ensure that confidentiality was maintained. Per The University of Texas at El Paso's Internal Review Board (IRB) protocols, researchers only used software that was directly connected to a secure university server rather than a public connection. In addition, each researcher conducted this work in a secure and private setting. While the IRB deemed this a program evaluation and not a direct research project, the research team adhered to strict confidential guidelines and security measures given the delicate nature of the information on hand. Each member of the research team signed a confidentiality agreement agreeing to such protocols. At the completion of data collection², researchers will have their internship time terminated by El Paso County so as to not have further and unnecessary access to confidential information.

Analytic Plan

Prior to formal analyses being conducted, descriptive statistics and correlations were obtained to illustrate the sampled participants and assess for potential collinearity. Consistent with previous validation efforts of risk assessment measures (Lowder et al., 2020b; Desmarais & Singh, 2013), we conducted Area Under the Curve (AUC) of the Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) statistical analyses to assess for predictive accuracy of the pretrial risk assessment instrument. AUC of ROC is commonly used in applied settings, as it sets a threshold for classification indicators (i.e., true-positive, false-positive, true-negative, false-negative) around a base rate of 50% predictive accuracy pertaining to model performance. AUC of ROC analyses are the suggested effect size analyses over Cohen's *d*, as Cohen's *d* was designed for two continuous, and normally distributed scores (Harris & Rice, 2005). These conditions are not

² Data collection is ongoing for the purposes of a formal report requested by El Paso County. Data collection for this report is estimated to be complete by May 2023.

often found in applied settings such as the criminal justice system. As such, AUC of ROC effect sizes are more appropriate because it does not allow influence of varying base rates of offending across groups in its measures of predictive accuracy (Skeem & Lowenkamp, 2016). AUC values range from 0.5 to 1.0 - 0.5 indicates chance value, and 1.0 suggests perfect predictive accuracy of the tool (Lowder et al., 2020). Literature reports that AUC values between a 0.00 to 0.54 are considered poor, scores between a 0.55 and 0.63 are fair, 0.64 to 0.70 are good, and scores ranging from 0.71 to 1.00 are ideal for predictive utility of a tool (Desmarais & Singh, 2013).

To assess for biases within the pretrial risk assessment tool, we conducted binary logistic regressions. For each of the following models, the binary outcome variable was pretrial success (Yes; No). The first model included the initial predictor variables on their own: race (White, Black, Asian or Pacific Islander, Native American or Alaskan Native, Other), ethnicity (non-Hispanic, Hispanic), gender (Male, Female), and age. We continued to include interactions to our model to determine whether the interactions were predictive of pretrial success above and beyond the initial predictor variables on their own. Binary logistic regressions were more appropriate to use in comparison to linear regression models due to the dichotomous nature of our outcome variable (Alexopoulos, 2010; Brunner & Giannini, 2011). Such statistical results (i.e., regression slopes and intercepts) can help determine bias across groups (i.e., race, ethnicity, gender, age) given the predicted risk scores and outcome occurrences (Skeem & Lowenkamp, 2016) in the El Paso population.

Results

Descriptives

Participants' risk categories were reasonably distributed across categories; with the most participants scoring in Level 2 (n= 620, 28.8%), followed by Level 1 (n=582, 27.0%), Level 3 (n=519, 24.1%), and Level 4 (n=431, 20.0%). In consideration of the two components of pretrial success, approximately 87.7% of participants (n=1,889) appeared to their court hearing and 84.4% of participants (n=1,817) complied with their set conditions during their pretrial hearings. Of those who were arrested prior to their hearing (n=264), over half (n=213, 80.6%) were arrested for non-violent charges. Overall, most participants (n=1,557, 72.3%) were categorized as completing their pretrial period successfully.

Variable	M	SD	Mdn.
Age in years (17-82)	31.60	11.23	
Monthly Income	\$790.07	\$1,405.79	\$0.00
	n		% of <i>P</i> s
Gender			
Male	1,758		81.7
Female	384		17.8
Other	10		0.5
Race (Pretrial Risk			
Assessment) ^a			
White	1,925		94.1
Black or African	102		4.7
American			
Asian or Pacific	5		0.2
American Indian or			
Alaska Native	5		0.2
Other	9		0.4
Did Not Answer	102		4.7
Race (Database)			
White	1,913		88.9
Black or African American	155		7.2

Table 1: Demographic Information of Participants

Asian or Pacific	5	0.2
Islander	5	0.2
Other	55	2.6
Did Not Answer	25	1.2
Ethnicity (Pretrial Risk		
Assessment)	1 207	(0.7
Hispanic or Latino	1,297	60.7
Not Hispanic or Latino	840	39.2
Ethnicity (Database)		
Hispanic or Latino	1,834	85.4
Not Hispanic or	314	14.6
Latino	517	14.0
Currently Homeless		
Yes	153	7.1
No	1,900	88.2
Not Applicable	4	0.2
Length of employment ^c		
Disabled	62	2.9
Full Time Student	38	1.8
Housewife/Primary	8	0.4
Caretaker > 2 Years	0	0.4
Less Than 6 Months	333	15.5
Longer Than 6	1,013	47.1
Months		
Reured	2	0.1
Unemployed	697	32.4
Veteran or Active US		
Military		
Yes	129	6
No	1,916	89
Not Applicable	15	0.7
Mental health flag ^d		
Yes	658	30.6
No	1,495	69.4

Note. N = 2,153. % of Ps = Participants. ^aDefendant race differed between what was reported on the pretrial risk assessment and what was entered in the County database.

^bDefendant ethnicity differed between what was reported on the pretrial risk assessment and what was entered in the County database.

^cThis table reflects how the item was noted on the pretrial risk assessment with corresponding item response options. ^dA mental health flag was indicated if the defendant had any form of mental health record. No further information is known or provided for the purposes of the assessment.

Accuracy of the Pretrial Risk Assessment Instrument

It was hypothesized that the results AUC of ROC analyses would suggest that the modified version of the pretrial risk assessment tool currently implemented in El Paso County would be more accurately predictive of risk than the original version of the tool. Results using data collected from this instrument were considered "fair" in performance, with an AUC=0.609. Validation efforts of the original tool (Debora & Meils, 2019) reported an AUC=0.602, suggesting that the modifications made to the initial version of the tool provided only marginal improvement. Recall that literature reports values between a 0.00 to 0.54 to be considered poor, 0.55 and 0.63 are fair, 0.64 to 0.70 are good, and 0.71 to 1.00 are excellent predictive scores by the tool (Desmarais & Singh, 2013).

Additional research questions pertaining to this study asked whether the tool overpredicted risk scores for subgroups of participants (e.g., racial and ethnic minority groups, women, age groups). These research questions will be further addressed below using additional analyses. However, we did conduct further Receiving Operating Characteristic (ROC) analyses on subgroups of participants for further illustration of the tool's utility. Due to the nature of these additional analyses, it was required that subgroup variables were dichotomized. When assessing race, the tool suggested more accurate predictive utility for White defendants (AUC=0.61) than non-White defendants (AUC=0.59). Following a similar trend, the predictive utility was stronger for non-Hispanic or Latino defendants (AUC=0.62) than Hispanic or Latino defendants (AUC=0.61) appeared to have less predictive utility by the tool than women (AUC=0.612) who were assessed. Lastly, a cutoff value

was included to create two groupings of age; the cutoff value was the average age (31.6 years). The tool had weaker predictive utility for defendants under 31.6 years of age (AUC=0.60) than defendants over the age of 41 (AUC=0.61). No difference in AUC scores were significantly different.

	19 101 D	erenau	in Duogroup			
Group	AUC	Sig	Cutoff	95 <mark>% CI</mark>	Sensitivity	Specificity
White	0.61	0.00	1.5	[0.58, 0.64]	0.62	0.57
Non-White	0.59	0.10	2.5	[0.48, 0.69]	0.70	0.42
Race Difference	0.02	0.72		[-0.09, 0.13]		
Hispanic or Latino	0.62	0.00	1.5	[0.58, 0.66]	0.61	0.56
Not Hispanic or Latino	0.60	0.00	1.5	[0.57, 0.64]	0.61	0.59
Ethnicity Difference	0.02	0.54		[-0.04, 0.7]		
Male	0.61	0.00	1.5	[0.58, 0.64]	0.60	0.59
Female	0.62	0.00	1.5	[0.55, 0.68]	0.67	0.54
Gender Difference	-0.01	0.76		[-0.08, 0.06]		
Age: < 31.6	0.61	0.00	1.5	[0.58, 0.65]	0.59	0.59
Age: ≥ 31.6	0.60	0.00	1.5	[0.56, 0.64]	0.54	0.64
Age Difference	-0.03	0.36		[-0.10, 0.04]		
Total	0.61	0.00	1.5	[0.58, 0.64]	0.61	0.58

Table 2: Predictive Utility for Defendant Subgroup

Note. This table demonstrates Area Under the Curve (AUC) of the Receiving Operating Characteristic (ROC) results.



Figure 1: Accuracy of Predicted Risk Scores on Pretrial Outcomes



Figure 2: Accuracy of Predicted Risk Scores on Pretrial Outcomes by Race



Figure 3: Accuracy of Predicted Risk Scores on Pretrial Outcomes by Ethnicity



Figure 4: Accuracy of Predicted Risk Scores on Pretrial Outcomes by Gender



Figure 5: Accuracy of Predicted Risk Scores on Pretrial Outcomes by Age

Binary Models

Binary logistic regression models were conducted to determine whether there were predictive biases present in predicted risk towards subgroups of participants (i.e., racial and ethnic groups, gender, age). Binary logistic regression models were the deemed best approach for these analyses due to the dichotomous nature of the outcome variable (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2013). We hypothesized that the modified instrument, while an improvement from the original version, would still overpredict risk for racial and ethnic minority groups of defendants, and women who were assessed using the EPPRA-R. The first model (Model 1) included only the main predictor (predicted risk scores) on pretrial success. Results suggest that risk scores populated by the tool do significantly predict pretrial success (OR= 0.74, 95% CI: [0.69, 0.80], p<.001). This suggests that for every increase of one in risk score, the odds of success are 0.74 times as high. To assess our hypotheses pertaining to fairness of the tool, binary predictor variables (Race: White, non-White; Ethnicity: non-Hispanic or Latino, Hispanic or Latino; Gender: Male, Female) and age (continuous predictor variable) were included in Model 2. Contrary to our hypotheses, defendants of racial and ethnic minority groups and women who were assessed did not receive statistically significant overpredictions of risk (Table 3). We also sought to explore the effects of age bias on predicted risk in Model 2. Results suggested that age had no significant effect on predicted risk and pretrial success (OR=0.86, 95% CI: [0.99, 1.01], p=0.86). To further determine potential bias present within the tool, we interacted predicted risk with defendant characteristics (Model 3). Results suggested that no evidence of biases were present when interacting with predicted risk on pretrial outcomes (Table 3). Lastly, we hypothesized that women of racial and ethnic minority groups would receive higher risk scores in comparison to White women (Model 4). Our results did not support this hypothesis, as the interaction between gender and race (OR=0.97, 95% CI: [0.30, 3.20], p=0.97) or ethnicity (OR=1.09, 95% CI: [0.62, 1.89], p=0.77) did not significantly predict risk scores and pretrial outcomes. These results were similar when including predicted risk as a third interacting variable in Model 4 (Table 3).

<u> </u>	0 0		5	-			
	B (S.E.)	O.R.	95% CI	Wald	df	Sig	
Step 1 - EPPRA-R Predictabili	ity						
Risk Score	-0.30 (.04)	0.74	[0.69, 0.80]	55.06	1	<.001	
Constant	1.42 (0.08)	4.15	[3.54, 4.84]	313.75	1	<.001	
Step 2 - Defendant Characteris	stics						
Risk Score	-0.30 (.04)	0.74	[0.69, 0.81]	52.97	1	<.001	
Race	-0.15 (.21)	0.86	[0.60, 1.30]	0.52	1	0.47	
Ethnicity	0.09 (.11)	1.09	[0.88, 1.35]	0.62	1	0.43	
Gender	0.04 (.13)	1.04	[0.80, 1.35]	0.08	1	0.77	
Age	0.00 (.01)	0.86	[0.99, 1.01]	0.03	1	0.86	
Constant	1.37 (.11)	3.94	[3.17, 4.89]	151.91	1	<.001	
Step 3 - Interactions of Risk Score with Defendant Characteristics							
Risk Score	-0.32 (.08)	0.73	[0.63, 0.84]	18.13	1	<.001	
Race	-0.24 (0.39)	0.79	[0.37, 1.68]	0.36	1	0.55	

Table 3: Summary of Binary Logistic Regression Analysis for Pretrial Outcomes

Ethnicity	-0.02 (0.18)	0.98	[0.69, 1.39]	0.01	1	0.91
Gender	0.24 (0.22)	1.27	[0.82, 1.97]	1.13	1	0.29
Age	0.00 (0.01)	1.00	[0.99, 1.02]	0.06	1	0.82
Race x Ethnicity	1.10 (0.71)	3.00	[0.75, 12.07]	2.41	1	0.12
Race x Gender	-0.35 (0.66)	0.71	[0.20, 2.55]	0.28	1	0.60
Race x Age	0.01 (0.02)	1.01	[0.97, 1.05]	0.27	1	0.60
Ethnicity x Gender	0.08 (0.30)	1.08	[0.61, 1.93]	0.76	1	0.78
Ethnicity x Age	-0.02 (0.01)	0.99	[0.97, 1.00]	3.13	1	0.08
Gender x Age	-0.01 (0.01)	1.00	[0.97, 1.02]	0.41	1	0.52
Risk Score x Race	0.05 (0.17)	1.05	[0.75, 1.47]	0.07	1	0.79
Risk Score x Ethnic	ity 0.06 (0.09)	1.06	[0.90, 1.26]	0.50	1	0.48
Risk Score x Gende	r -0.13 (0.12)	0.88	[0.70, 1.10]	1.23	1	0.27
Risk Score x Age	0.00(0.00)	1.00	[0.99, 1.01]	0.02	1	0.89
Constant	1.41 (0.15)	4.11	[3.06, 5.51]	80.07	1	<.001
Step 4 - Interactions of	Risk Score and Gender	r with Ra	ace and Ethnici	ty		
Risk Score	-0.33 (0.08)	0.72	[0.62, 0.84]	17.966	1	<.001
Race	-0.24 (0.40)	0.79	[0.36, 1.73]	0.346	1	0.56
Ethnicity	-0.02 (0.18)	0.98	[0.58, 1.16]	0.012	1	0.91
Gender	0.24 (0.22)	1.27	[0.82, 1.96]	1.148	1	0.28
Age	0.00 (0.01)	1.00	[0.99, 1.02]	0.053	1	0.82
Risk Score x Race	0.05 (0.17)	1.06	[0.75, 1.48]	0.098	1	0.75
Risk Score x Ethnic	ity 0.07 (0.09)	1.07	[0.90, 1.28]	0.599	1	0.44
Risk Score x Gende	r -0.10 (.15)	0.91	[0.68, 1.21]	0.414	1	0.52
Risk Score x Age	0.00(0.00)	1.00	[0.99, 1.01]	0.014	1	0.90
Risk Score x Gende	r x					
Race	-0.05 (0.31)	0.95	[0.52, 1.74]	0.028	1	0.87
Kisk Score x Gende	r X 0.05 (0.15)	0.05	[0.72 1.27]	0 1 1 4	1	0.74
Constant	-0.03(0.15)	0.93	[0.72, 1.27]	0.114	1	U. /4
Constant	1.41 (0.15)	4.10	[3.00, 3.31]	89.0/4	1	<.001

Note. Step 1: Goodness of Fit χ^2 (1) = 55.69, p < .001; -2 Log Likelihood = 2327.92; Cox & Snell R² = 0.03; Nagelkerke R² = 0.04. Step 2: Goodness of Fit χ^2 (4) = 1.708, p = 0.79; -2 Log Likelihood = 2326.22; Cox & Snell R² = 0.03; Nagelkerke R² = 0.04. Step 3: Goodness of Fit χ^2 (4) = 1.77, p = 0.78; -2 Log Likelihood = 2324.44; Cox & Snell R² = 0.03; Nagelkerke R² = 0.04. Step 3: Goodness of Fit χ^2 (2) = 0.13, p = 0.94; -2 Log Likelihood = 2324.31; Cox & Snell R² = 0.03; Nagelkerke R² = 0.04.

Discussion

The validation efforts of the El Paso Pretrial Risk Assessment Instrument – Revised were two-fold. First, we wanted to assess whether the revised tool was more accurately predictive of pretrial outcomes than the original tool validated in 2019. Second, we sought to determine whether there were biases towards subgroups of defendants within the tool's predictive utility. To address the first research question, analyses resulted in statistically "fair" predictive performance for pretrial outcomes. While the revised tool increased in predictive utility in comparison to the original, it was only marginally so. To address the following research questions, results suggested that no subgroup of defendant population (i.e., racial minority groups, Hispanic and Latino defendants, women, age groups) were more prone to an overprediction of risk. These results have rather contradicting implications that we will further discuss.

Accuracy in Predictive Utility

When implemented properly, pretrial risk assessment tools are intended to offer strong predictive utility – the information provided at an earlier time and included within the tool may more accurately predict outcomes for defendants (Wei-Ling & Yao, 2014). To do so, validation efforts must be conducted to assess accuracy of the tool (Zottola et al., 2021; Cohen & Lowenkamp, 2019; Berk et al., 2018). The results of this study suggest that while this tool is statistically "fair" in its predictive utility, it remains lower in its predictive ability than other tools that are used in similar correctional settings. For example, Cohen and Lowenkamp (2019) revalidated the PTRA tool on sample of federal pretrial defendants and found a range of "good" to "excellent" predictive results, as AUC statistics ranged between 0.65 to 0.73. Similarly, a validation of the Indiana Risk Assessment System – Pretrial Assessment Tool (IRAS-PAT) was

validated across five Indiana counties and posited "good" to "excellent" results; AUC statistics followed similar suit and ranged between 0.67-0.72 (Lowder et al., 2020). As such, there is room for improvement for El Paso's local instrument.

While the tool was statistically "fair" in its predictive utility, it only just reached the threshold of "fair." This is a warrant for concern, as the validation efforts from the initial El Paso pretrial risk assessment tool (prior to the revisions made to the tool currently being assessed) had shockingly similar results. While we are unable to statistically discern the difference between the two AUC results (overall score from the 2019 validation and overall score from current validation), such a small change in predictive utility following modifications intended to improve the tool should be further assessed. It is then assumed that the revisions made had very little impact on the overall utility of the tool and begs the question of what is needed to improve its predictive accuracy.

Fairness in Predictive Utility

In addition to ensuring that a pretrial risk assessment tool is accurate, it is essential that tools are assessed for disparity within predicted risk scores amongst population subgroups, such as defendant race and ethnic identity, gender, and age (Cohen & Lowenkamp, 2019; Desmarais et al., 2016; Skeem & Lowenkamp, 2016). Past literature suggests that those of racial and ethnic minority groups are subject to increased encounters with law enforcement, as they are more likely to experience over-policing of neighborhoods, social and resource disadvantages, and fewer opportunities for employment and advancement (Clair & Winter, 2016; Skeem & Lowenkamp, 2016b; Viljoen et al., 2019). Additionally, feminist literature has advocated for further investigation into predicted risk for women involved with the justice system, as empirical evidence suggests women are more likely to engage in criminal behavior due to factors that

differ from their male counterparts (e.g., employment, substance use, abuse, mental health, homelessness; Gehring, 2018; Gehring & Van Voorhis, 2014). As such, it is suggested that women are prone to an overprediction of risk given that actuarial tools do not account for such differences in justice-involvement (Huebner et al., 2010). Lastly, while it is less reported, there is a small consensus that older defendants are prone to overprediction of risk due to tools' reliance on criminal history (Monahan et al., 2017). When assessing these factors for risk disparity within the revised tool in this study, no subgroup of defendants was shown to have an overprediction of risk in relation to their pretrial outcome. Interestingly, we should consider that the homogeneity of the Hispanic and Latino ethnic makeup of El Paso County may alter the bias present in these results; as experiences of ethnic bias may not be as prevalent for local residents in comparison to a non-border city (Curry & Zavala, 2022). While it may differ in other geographic locations, the tool appears to be accurately reflective of risk for the current population. This, on the surface, appears to be a promising result.

While equity in predictive utility across defendant groups (based on personal characteristics) is a positive outcome, we should be cautiously optimistic in this context. It seems premature to feel confident in these group results for two reasons. First, given the fairly low rate of predictive utility, we are unsure if the tool truly works for any defendant that is assessed at the El Paso County jail, much less across group characteristics. Second, approximately 82.9% of El Paso County identifies as Hispanic or Latino (U.S. Census Bureau, 2021). As such, we may be witnessing skewed findings as a result of the ethnic makeup of the county. While we did see matched racial group representation within our data (base rate of Black residents within El Paso County is 4.2%; U.S. Census Bureau, 2021), our data did not reflect a matched gender representation of the county (50.2% women in El Paso County; U.S. Census Bureau, 2021).

Though these data reflect typical trends for most of those that are justice-involved – Black individuals are more likely to have criminal justice involvement than their White counterparts (Desmarais et al., 2021; Zottola et al., 2021) and men make up the majority of the justice-system population (Federal Bureau of Prisons, 2022a) – the ethnic makeup of the county drastically differs from typical correctional trends (Federal Bureau of Prisons, 2022b). Overall, tt has been discussed that El Paso County's revised tool is statistically "fair" in its predictive utility and does not appear to overpredict risk for any subgroup of defendants that are assessed. However, this statement out of context may be misleading for the continued implementation of the El Paso Pretrial Risk Assessment Instrument – Revised as it currently stands.

Limitations

The shortcomings of this study must be considered when discussing its findings. First, the data collected was obtained from county databases that were subject to human error; both by county officials inputting information, as well as researchers creating the dataset. In efforts to get as much information as possible, researchers collected defendant demographic information from both the pretrial risk assessment itself, and from the database that it was then entered into by county personnel. To use defendant ethnicity as an example, our data shows that 60.7% (n=1,297) of our sample directly from the assessment identifies as Hispanic or Latino, but 85.4% (n=1,835) of the sample is noted as Hispanic or Latino in the database used by the county. This discrepancy is considerable. It must be noted that the characteristics listed on the pretrial risk assessment tool was provided by observation of the staff member conducting the assessment rather than how the defendant identified themselves. Best practices for reporting race and ethnicity endorse self-report (Flanagin et al., 2021). Moreover, the administrative and procedural processes to transfer information from the assessment sheet to the database is unknown.

Therefore, we cannot speak to how the discrepancy between reporting occurs. For the purposes of this study, we used the information indicated on the pretrial risk assessment, as that is what is made available to judges and magistrates when determining pretrial release decisions. However, it causes concern in our analyses given that we are unable to fully discern accurate rates of defendant characteristics with these data.

Second, there is always room for concern of outcome accuracy given the method in which outcome data were collected. Researchers were trained to identify and understand information available to them on the database used by the county for defendant information. However, all information and documentation uploaded to the database is subject to varying titles and documentation types. We understand that this method of data collection may have lent itself to inaccuracies within pretrial outcome information pertaining to defendants. However, given the level of training and oversight throughout the data collection process, it is unlikely that the inaccuracies were detrimental to our analyses. Additionally, precedent had to be considered when coding outcome data. At this time, defendants that were detained pretrial, and remained detained throughout the duration of their pretrial period, was considered successful. This is due to their inability to fail to appear to court and comply with supervision conditions. It is concerning, as it is unknown at this time whether these cases conflated success rates in our results. Future analyses will look to exclude defendants that are detained for the duration of their pretrial period to discern pretrial outcomes more accurately.

Third, our pretrial outcomes were limited to El Paso County. Researchers attempted to obtain criminal history data from the Texas Department of Public Safety but were unable to. Currently, The Department of Public Safety is only permitting research with federal funding access to such datasets. Given we do not have such funding at the moment, we were unable to

match defendants with criminal history records outside of El Paso County. Efforts are underway to obtain federal funding while continuing data collection; future analyses hope to incorporate matched defendant outcomes to allow for more robust findings.

Lastly, the statistical design used to determine predictive utility across defendant groups (i.e., race, ethnicity, gender, and age) was dependent on dichotomous data and aggregating the race predictor within our data. Opposition to forcing dichotomies has been an emerging discussion amongst pretrial reform scholars (see Zottola et al., 2021 for review). Additionally, calls for disaggregating race data specifically is a growing movement. The criminal justice literature historically dichotomizes race categories into White and non-White groups; suggesting that White groups are the de facto comparison group. This should not continue to be the standard given the varying levels of racial and ethnic makeup of any given community; El Paso County is an excellent example of such a point. Future work will look to engage in weighted effects coding to more accurately assess group comparisons and engage in best practices.

Implications

This study leads to many opportunities for further work outside of the scope of predicted risk. First and foremost, the immediate next step is to assess which risk items inform predicted outcomes above and beyond others that do not. This may help to inform how the tool may be improved for predictive utility, or whether there is a more appropriate tool to use on El Paso County's specific and unique population. While this study is sufficiently powered, the inequity between racial groups cannot be ignored. While data collected was reflective of the community rates by White and Black defendants, additional racial groups (i.e., Asian and Pacific Islander, American and Alaskan Native) fell far below the community base rate. As previously mentioned, data collection is ongoing, and researchers anticipate improved group comparisons. Most

importantly, this tool has the capability of providing rich information necessary for pretrial decision-making and additional pretrial release options.

In addition to predicted risk, this tool acts as a decision aide for judges and magistrates to determine pretrial supervision levels. Previous research suggests that the use of results from methodologically sound pretrial risk assessment tools in making supervision decisions by judges and magistrates increase rates of pretrial release and the use of pretrial supervision (Desmarais et al., 2021). More specifically, empirical work is starting to discern whether supervision standards are "over" supervising defendants, causing more negative pretrial outcomes (Lowder & Foudray, 2021). Pretrial supervision is a largely emerging area of pretrial reform research, and these data may be instrumental to such development.

In consideration of large implications, these results can contribute to bail reform discussions. The state of Texas is involved in nationwide debates over the use of cash bail. These findings may inform the discussion concerning cash bail systems and their role in the pretrial space. By assessing such individual-level information regarding pretrial outcomes, this may assist in illustrating the effects of releasing defendants on their own recognizance. Pretrial reform is a rich and ever-growing discussion that can greatly benefit from empirical support.

References

- Adler, J., Picard, S., & Flood, C. (2019). Arguing the algorithm: Pretrial risk assessment and the zealous defender. *Cardozo Journal of Conflict Resolution*, *21*, 581-595.
- Alarid, L. F. & Montemayor, C. D. (2010). Legal and extralegal factors in attorney recommendations of pretrial diversion. *Criminal Justice Studies*, 23(3), 239-252. https://doi.org/10.1080/1478601X.2010.502348
- Andrews, D. A. & Bonta, J. (2010). Rehabilitating criminal justice policy and practice. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law, 16*(1), 39-55. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018362
- Andrews, D. A. & Bonta, J. (1998). *The Level of Service Inventory Screening version*. Toronto: Multi-Health Systems.
- Andrews, D. A., Bonta, J. L., & Wormith, J. S. (2004). Level of Service/Case Management Inventory (LS/CMI). Multi-health Systems.
- Andrews, D. A., Bonta, J., Wormith, J. S. (2006). The recent past and near future of Risk and/ord Need assessment. *Crime & Delinquency*, 52(1), 7-27. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011128705281756
- Ares, C., Rankinn, A., & Sturz, H. (1963). The Manhattan Bail Project: An interim report on the use of pretrial parole. *New York University Law Review*, 38, 67-95.
- Barno, M., Nevarez Martinez, D., & Williams, K. R. (2020). Exploring alternatives to cash bail: An evaluation of Orange County's Pretrial Assessment and Release Supervision (PARS)
 Program. *American Journal of Criminal Justice*, 45, 363-378. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12103-019-09506-3

- Bechtel, K., Holsinger, A. M., Lownkamp, C. T., & Warren, M. J. (2017). A meta-analytic review of pretrial research: Risk assessment, bond type, and intervention. *American Journal of Criminal Justice*, 42, 443-467. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12103-016-9367-1
- Berk, R., Heidari, H., Jabbari, S., Kearns, M., & Roth, A. (2018). Fairness in criminal justice risk assessments: The state of the art. *Sociological Methods & Research*, 1-42. https://doi.org/10.1177/0049124118782533

Booth v. Galveston County 352 F. Supp. 3d 718 (S.D. Tex. 2019)

- Brennan, T., Dieterich, W., & Ehret, B. (2009). Evaluating the predictive validity of the
 COMPAS risk and needs assessment system. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 36(1), 2140. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854808326545
- Brunner, H. I. & Giannini, E. H. (2011). Trial design, measurement, and analysis of clinical investigations. In J. T. Cassidy, R. M. Laxer, R. E. Petty, & C. B. Lindsley (Eds.), *Textbook of pediatric rheumatology* (6th ed., pp. 127-156). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-1-4160-6581-4.10007-X
- Bybee, K. J. (2012). Paying attention to what judges say: New directions in the study of judicial decision making. *Annual Review of Law and Social Science*, *8*, 69-84.
- Bushway, S. D. & Piehl, A. M. (2001). Judging judicial discretion: Legal factors and racial discrimination in sentencing. *Law and Society Review*, 35(4), 733-764.
- Cadigan, T. P. & Lowenkamp, C. T. (2011). Implementing risk assessment in the federal pretrial services system. *Federal Probation*, *75*(2), 30-32.
- Clair, M. & Winter, A. S. (2016). How judges think about racial disparities: Situational decisionmaking in the criminal justice system. *Criminology*, 54(2), 332-359. https://doi.org/10.1111/1745-9125.12106

- Cohen, T. H. & Lowenkamp, C. T. (2019). Revalidation of the federal PTRA: Testing the PTRA for predictive biases. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 46(2), 234-260. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854818810315
- Curry, T. R. & Zavala, E. (2022). Expanding and testing a Latinx differential coercion and Social Support Theory of Crime. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 0(0). https://doi.org/10.1177/08862605221090567
- Dalakian, G. (2018). Open the jail cell doors, Hal: A guarded embrace of pretrial risk assessment instruments. *Fordham Law Review*, *87*, 325-369.

Daves v. Dallas County, No. 18-11368 (5th Cir. 2020)

- DeMichele, M., Baumgartner, P., Barrick, K., Comfort, M., Scaggs, S., & Misra, S. (2019). What do criminal justice professionals think about risk assessment at pretrial? *Federal Probation*, 83(1), 32-41.
- Desmarais, S. L., Johnson, K. L., & Singh, J. P. (2016). Performance of recidivism risk assessment instruments in U.S. correctional settings. *Psychological Services*, 13(3), 206-222. https://dx.doi.org/10.1037/ser0000075
- Desmarais, S. L. & Lowder, E. M. (2019). Pretrial risk assessment tools: A primer for judges, prosecutors and defense attorneys. *Safety and Justice Challenge*.
- Desmarais, S. L. & Singh, J. P. (2013). *Risk assessment instruments validated and implemented in correctional settings in the United States.* Council of State Governments Justice Center.
- Desmarais, S. L., Zottola, S. A., Duhart Clarke, S. E., & Lowder, E. M. (2020). Predictive validity of pretrial risk assessments: A systematic review of the literature. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 48(4), 398-420. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854820932959

- Dobbie, W., Goldin, J., & Yang, C. (2016). The effects of pre-trial detention on conviction, future crime, and employment: Evidence from randomly assigned judges. *American Economic Review*, 108(2), 201-240. https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.20161503
- Fabelo, T. & Tyler, J. (2019). El Paso pretrial system assessment final report: Review of policies and recidivism trends and recommendations to improve efficiencies and outcomes. The Meadows Mental Health Policy Institute for Texas.
- Farmer, P. B. (1987). United States v. Salerno: Is pretrial detention of the dangerous a deprivation of liberty without due process of law? *Criminal Justice Journal*, 10(1), 121-136.
- Friedman, L. S. (1976). The evolution of a bail reform. Policy Sciences, 7(3), 281-313.
- Gain, M. S. (1988). The Bail Reform Act of 1984 and United States v. Salerno: Too easy to believe. *Case Western Reserve Law Review*, *39*(4), 1371-1394.
- Gehring, K. S. (2018). A direct test of pathways theory. *Feminist Criminology*, *13*(2), 115-137. https://doi.org/10.1177/1557085116646195
- Gehring, K. S. & Van Voorhis, P. (2014). Needs and pretrial failure. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 41(8), 943-970. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854814538022
- Goldkamp, J. S. (1985). Danger and detention: A second generation of bail reform. *Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology*, 76(1), 1-74.
- Harcourt, B. E. (2015). Risk as a proxy for race: The dangers of risk assessment. *Federal Sentencing Reporter, 27*(4), 237-243.
- Heaton, P., Mayson, S., & Stevenson, M. (2017). The downstream consequences of misdemeanor pretrial detention. *Stanford Law Review*, 69, 711-794.

- Hoffman, P. B. (1983). Screening for risk: A revised salient factor score (SFS 81). Journal of Criminal Justice, 11(6), 539-547. http://doi.org/10.1016/0047-2352(83)90006-5
- Huebner, B. M., DeJong, C., & Cobbina, J. (2010). Women coming home: Long-term patterns of recidivism. *Justice Quarterly*, 27(2), 225-254. Jacobs, J. B. (2019). The rise and fall of organized crime in the United States. *The University of Chicago Press Journals*, 49, 17-67. https://doi.org/10.1086/706895
- Hussemann, J. & Siegel, J. (2019). Pleading guilty: Indigent defendant perceptions of the plea process. *Tennessee Journal of Law and Policy*, *13*(2), 459-522.
- Kroner, D. G., Mills, J. F., & Reddon, J. R. (2003). A coffee can, factor analysis, and prediction of antisocial behavior: The structure of criminal risk. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, 28, 360-374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijlp.2004.01.011
- Larson, J., Mattu, S., Kirchner, L., (2016, May 23). *How we analyzed the COMPAS recidivism algorithm*. ProPublica. https://www.propublica.org/article/how-we-analyzed-the-compas-recidivism-algorithm
- Latessa, E., Smith, P., Lemke, R., Makarios, M., & Lowenkamp, C. (2009). Creation and validation of the Ohio Risk Assessment System: Final report. Ohio Department of Rehabilitation and Correction.
 https://www.uc.edu/content/dam/uc/ccjr/docs/reports/project_reports/ORAS_Final_Report.pdf
- Leslie, E. & Pope, N. G. (2017). The unintended impact of pretrial detention on case outcomes: Evidence from New York City arraignments. *Journal of Law and Economics*, 60, 529-557. https://doi.org/022-2186/2017/6003-0018\$10.00

- Lin, W. L. & Yao, G. (2014). Predictive validity. In A. C. Michalos (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of quality of life and well-being research*. Springer, Dordrecht. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-0753-5_2241
- Linder, L. (2012). Seventeen in the adult justice system: Quick facts. Texas Criminal Justice Coalition.

https://www.texascjc.org/system/files/publications/Seventeen%20in%20the%20Adult%2 0Justice%20System%20Quick%20Guide.pdf

- Lowder, E. M., Diaz, C. L., Grommon, E., & Ray, B. R. (2020a). Effects of pretrial risk assessments on release decisions and misconduct outcomes relative to practice as usual. *Journal of Criminal Justice*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2020101754
- Lowder, E. M. & Foudray, C. M. A. (2021). Use of risk assessments in pretrial supervision decision-making and associated outcomes. *Crime & Delinquency*, 67(11), 1765-1791. https://doi.org/10.1177/00111287211022642
- Lowder, E. M., Lawson, S. G., Grommon, E., & Ray, B. R. (2020b). Five-county validation of the Indiana Risk Assessment System - Pretrial Assessment Tool (IRAS-PAT) using a local validation approach. *Justice Quarterly*, 27(7), 1241-1260.
- Lowenkamp, C. T., Van Nostrand, M., & Holsinger, A. (2013). *The hidden costs of pretrial detention*. New York, NY: The Laura and John Arnold Foundation.
- Lowenkamp, C. T. & Whetzel, J. (2009). The development of an actuarial risk assessment instrument for U.S. Pretrial services. *Federal Probation*, 73(2).
- McElroy, J. E. (2011). Introduction to the Manhattan Bail Project. *Federal Sentencing Reporter*, 24(1), 8-9. https://doi.org/10.1525/fsr.2011.24.1.8

- Milgram, A., Holsinger, A. M., Vannostrand, M., & Alsdorf, M. (2015). Pretrial risk assessment: Improving public safety and fairness in pretrial decision making. *Federal Sentencing Reporter*, 27(4), 216-221.
- Monaghan, J., Joseph van Holm, E., & Surprenant, C. W. (2020). Get jailed, jump bail? The impacts of cash bail on failure to appear and re-arrest in Orleans Parish. *American Journal of Criminal Justice*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12103-020-09591-9
- Monahan, J. & Skeem, J. L. (2016). Risk assessment in criminal sentencing. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, *12*, 489-513.
- Monahan, J., Skeem, J., & Lowenkamp, C. (2017). Age, risk assessment, and sanctioning:
 Overestimating the old, underestimating the young. *Law and Human Behavior*, 41(2), 191-201. https://doi.org/10.1037/lhb0000233
- Northpointe. (2015). Correctional Offender Management Profiling for Alternative Sanctions (COMPAS). Northpointe.
- O'Donnell v. Harris County, 892 F. 3D 147 (5th Ct. 2018)
- Oleson, J. C., Lowenkamp, C. T., Cadigan, T. P., VanNostrand, M., & Woolredge, J. (2016). The effect of pretrial detention on sentencing in two federal districts. *Justice Quarterly*, 33(6), 1103-1122. https://doi.org/10.1080/07418825.20149590345
- Palafox, E. & McLeod, B. (2019). To bail or not to bail: Protecting the presumption of innocence in Nevada. *Nevada Law Journal Forum*, *3*(2), 9-89.
- Picard-Fritsche, S. Rempel, M., Tallon, J.A., Adler, J., & Reyes, N. (2017). Demystifying risk assessment: Key principles and controversies. *Center for Court Innovation*, 15.

- Petee, T. A. (1994). Recommended for release on recognizance: Factors affecting pretrial release recommendations. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, *134*(3), 375-382. https://doi.org/10.1080/0024545.1994.9711742
- Prison Policy Initiative. (2020, March 24). *Mass incarceration: The whole pie 2020* [Press release]. https://www.prisonpolicy.org/factsheets/pie2020_allimages.pdf

Reisig, M. D., Holtfreter, K., & Morash, M. (2006). Assessing recidivism risk across female pathways to crime. *Justice Quarterly*, 23(3), 384-405. https://doi.org/10.1080/07418820600869152

Rice, M. E. & Harris, G. T. (2005). Comparing effect sizes in follow-up studies: ROC area, Cohen's *d*, and *r. Law and Human Behavior*, 29(5), 615-620. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10979-005-6832-7

Russell v. Harris County 500 F. Supp. 3d 577 (S.D. Tex. 2020)

Singh, J. P. (2012). The history, development, and testing of forensic risk assessment tools. In. E.
L. Grigorenko (Ed.), *Handbook of juvenile forensic psychology and psychiatry* (pp. 215-227). Springer.

Schall v. Martin, 467 U.S. 253 (1984)

Scott, T. E. (1989). Pretrial detention under the Bail Reform Act of 1984: An empirical analysis. *American Criminal Law Review*, 27(1), 2-51.

Sharma, S., Mustanski, B., Dick, D., Bolland, J., & Kertes, D. A. (2019). Protective factors buffer life stress and behavioral health outcomes among high-risk youth. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 47, 1289-1301. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-019-00515-8

Skeem, J. L. & Lowenkamp, C. T. (2016b). Risk, race, and recidivism: Predictive bias and disparate impact. *Criminology*, 54(4), 680-712. https://doi.org/10.1111/1745-9125.12123

- Skeem, J., Monahan, J., & Lowenkamp, C. L. (2016). Gender, risk assessment, and sanctioning: The cost of treating women like men. *Law and Human Behavior*, 40(5), 580-593. https://dx.doi.org/10.1037/lhb00000206
- Skeem, J. & Monahan, J. (2020). Lost in translation: "Risks," "needs," and "evidence" in implementing the First Step Act. *Behavioral Science & the Law*, 38(3), 287-297. https://doi.org/10.1002/bsl.2459
- Skeem, J. L., Winter, E., Kennealy, P. J., Eno Louden, J., & Tatar II, J. R. (2013). Offenders with mental illness have criminogenic needs, too: Toward recidivism reduction. *Law and Human Behavior*, 38(3), 212-224. https://doi.org/10.1037/lhb0000054
- Smith, R. (2018). Condemned to repeat history? Why the last movement for bail reform failed, and how this one can succeed. *Georgetown Journal on Poverty Law and Policy*, 25(3), 451-474.
- Soderstrom, M. F. P., Childs, K. K., & Frick, P. J. (2020). The role of protective factors in the predictive accuracy of the Structured Assessment of Violence Risk in Youth (SAVRY). *Youth Violence and Juvenile Justice, 18*(1), 78-95.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1541204019837329

Starr, S. B. (2014). Evidence-based sentencing and the scientific rationalization of discrimination. *Stanford Law Review*, 66(803), 803-872.

Tabachnick, B. G. & Fidell, L. S. (2013). Using multivariate statistics (6th ed.). Pearson.

Ullrich, S. & Coid, J. (2011). Protective factors for violence among released prisoners – effects over time and interactions with static risk. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 79(3), 381-390. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0023613

U.S. Const. art. VIII

United States v. Edwards, 415 U.S. 800 (1974)

United States v. Salerno, 481 U.S. 739 (1987)

- Van Brunt, A. & Bowman, L. E. (2018). Towards just model of pretrial release: History of bail reform and prescription for what's next. *Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology*, 108(4), 701-774.
- Van Voorhis, P., Wright, E. M., Salisbury, E., & Bauman, A. (2010). Women's risk factors and their contributions to existing risk/need assessment. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 37(3), 261-288. DOI: 10.1177/0093854809357442
- VanNostrand, M. (2003). Assessing risk among pretrial defendants in Virginia: The Virginia Pretrial Risk Assessment Instrument.
- Viljoen, J. L., Johnson, M. R., Cochrane, D. M., Vargen, L M., & Vincent, G. M. (2019). Impact of risk assessment instruments on rates of pretrial detention, postconviction placements, and release: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Law and Human Behavior, 43*(5), 397-420. https://dx.doi.org/10.1037/lhb0000433
- Vose, B., Lowenkamp, C. T., Smith, P., & Cullen, F. T. (2009). Gender and the predictive validity of the LSI-R. *Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice*, 25(4), 459-471. https://doi.org/10.1177/1043986209344797
- Walters, G. D. & DeLisi, M. (2013). Antisocial cognition and crime continuity: Cognitive mediation of the past crime-future crime relationship. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 41, 135-140. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2012.12.004

Wisconsin v. Loomis 881 N.W.2d 749 (2016).

Wiseman, S. R. (2014). Pretrial detention and the right to be monitored. *The Yale Law Journal*, *123*(5), 1118-1625

- Wiseman, S. (2009). Discrimination, coercion, and the Bail Reform Act of 1984: The loss of the core constitutional protections of the Excessive Bail Clause. *Fordham Urban Law Journal, 36*(1), 121-158.
- Wooditch, A., Tang, L. L., & Taxman, F. S. (2014). Which criminogenic need changes are most important in promoting desistance from crime and substance use? *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 41(3), 276-299. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854813503543
- Yang, Y., Hsee, C. K., & Li, X. (2021). Prediction biases: An integrative review. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 30(3), 195-201. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721421990341

Appendix A: El Paso Pretrial Risk Assessment Instrument – Revised (EPPRA-R)

El Paso Pretrial Services Report V3								
Defendant Nar	me:				AKA's:			
Date:	DOB: Arrest Date/Time:							
Gender:		AGE:			Client has no know	holds	6	
Indigent? Un	ndigent? Unknown START TIME:							
			CURRENT CHA	RGE (S)				
Most serious cu	irrent/new charge first w	vith (warrant/c	ase number);					
	EL PASO	PRETRIAL RE	SEARCH ASSES	SMENT -	REVISED (EPPRA	-R)		
The following re defendant. This safety and flight Paso's local non	esearch provides the lates research is intended to p risks. The EPPRA-R empi	st empirical out provide empirica rically categoriz	comes of pretrial d al information to si red defendants int	lefendants i upplement a o four pretri	n El Paso who are m a judge's statutory o ial categories of rese	ost clo bligati earch c	sely associated with on to consider public outcomes based on El	this
P	PRETRIAL RISK LEVEL				Level 2			
Level 1	: 81% Overall Success L	evel 2: 70% Ov	erall Success Lev	rel 3: 60% Ov	verall Success Leve	el 4: 51	% Overall Success	
"Overall Success pretrial period, a outcomes from	" definition: No warrants and no warrants for failu the most recent available	during the pre re to comply wi e research:	trial period for fail th bond condition	ure to appe s. This defer	ar in court, no new o ndant's responses ar	crimina nd histo	al charges during the ory result in the follow	wing
*SUCCESSFUL COU	URT APPEARANCE RATE	91%	[†] NO NEW VIOLENT RATE	CHARGE	90%	‡NO N CHARG	EW NON-VIOLENT SE RATE	77%
		EPPI	RA-R FACTORS	& SCORIN	IG			
Is the defenda	nt currently under sup	ervision?†				No		0
Have two or m	ore prior violent or fel	ony convictior	ns?†‡		No			0
Does the Defe	ndant have any pendin	g charges?‡				No		0
Age 18.5 or un	der at the time of boo	king?†‡			Yes			1
ASK: Has the d	efendant been at this l	ocation for LE	SS than 1 year?*	‡	No			0
ASK: Length of	Current Employment				Longer than 6 Months			0
Level 1: 0	points Level 2:1 p	point Leve	el 3: 2 points	Level 4: 3	to 6 points		TOTAL SCORE:	1
CRIMINAL	HISTORY DETAILS pes not include Fede	(Convictio ral Convictio	ns only excep ns but does sh	ot for DV ow on RA	VI): P Sheet)			
Felony	N/A							0
Misdemeanor	Misdemeanor N/A 0					0		
DWI History (includes arres	N/A				Non-convictions Count	0	Convictions Count	0
Deferred N/A								
Adjudications								
Juvenile Felony N/A								
Juv. Misdemea	Juv. Misdemeanor N/A							
Pending Cases	N/A							
RECOMMEND	ATION FROM SMART S GUIDELINES:							

ADDITIONAL RECOMMENDED BOND CONDITIONS:				
Condition #1:				
Notes:				

Are you a veteran or actively in the United States military?	
Are you currently homeless?	
Have you been homeless in the past year?	
Notes:	

LOCAL TIES & RESIDE	AL TIES & RESIDENCE HISTORY: Information Verified? No			lo	
Current Address:	Current Address:				
Phone Number:	Email:		Alt.#		
Length at Current Add	dress:				
Amount of Time in Lo	cal Area:				
Others living at this address:				Count: 0	
Number of Dependents:					
Notes:					
WHERE WILL THE DEFENDANT RESIDE?		Information Verified?	No		
Address:	SAME AS ABO	/E			
Phone Number:		Email:		Alt.#	
Defendant will reside with: N/A					

EMPLOYMENT (self-reported, not verified):	No
Current Employer:	
Length of Employment:	
How much money can you and your family raise within 24 hours to post a b	ond?

CONINIONITY CONTA	C15 #1:				
Contact Name:			Contact Phone #:		
Relation to client:			Willing to Co-sign?	Unknown	
Spoke wit	n Contact (Yes or No)?	No			
COMMUNITY CONTA	CTS #2:				
Contact Name:			Contact Phone #:		
Relation to client:			Willing to Co-sign?	Unknown	
Spoke wit	n Contact (Yes or No)?	No			
OTHER INFORMATIO	N/NOTES (IF APPLICABLE)	:			
	Preparer:		Time:		
END TIME:	Reviewer:		Time:		
	REPORT COMPLETED	BY:			

This information was compiled under stringent timelines from relevant sources for convenience of review by applicable Judicial Officials. Pretrial Services makes no representations or warrantees regarding the completeness or accuracy of this information.

Appendix B: El Paso Pretrial Risk Assessment Instrument (EPPRA)

Risk Assessment

Name:	DOB:	Gender: M/F Race:	
Case/Warrant #:	SO #:	Booking Date:	
Current Address:		Length at Address:	
			Score
Current Offense (Most Serio	us):		
Additional Charge(s):			
			Score
Is Defendant Currently Unde	r Supervision:		
Case No(s)/Charge:			
			Score
Number of Prior FTA's:			
Case No(s)/Charge:			
Number of Prior Violent Off	enses:		Score
Case No(s)/Charge:			
Does defendant have any Pe	nding Charges:		Score
CaseNo(s)/Charge/Court:			
Attorney of Record (Appt'ed	/Retained):		
Does defendant have Outsta	anding Warrants from other	Jurisdictions:	Score
Case No(s)/Charge:	-		
			 ~
Current Employer/Primary C	hild Caregiver:		Score
Length of Time:			

Notes:	Total Points:
	Risk Level:

Risk Factor	Criteria	Assigned Point(s)
Charge Type	If the most serious charge for the current arrest was a felony	1 point
Pending Charge(s)	If the defendant had one or more charge(s) pending in court at the time of the arrest	1 point
Outstanding Warrant(s)	If the defendant had one or more warrant(s) outstanding in another locality for charges unrelated to the current arrest	1 point
Criminal History	If the defendant had one or more misdemeanor or felony convictions	1 point
Two or more Failure to Appear Convictions	If the defendant had two or more failure to appear convictions	2 points
Two or more Violent Convictions	If the defendant had two or more violent convictions	1 point
Length at Current Residence	If the defendant had lived at their current residence for less than one year prior to arrest	1 point
Employed/ Primary Child Caregiver	If the defendant had not been employed continuously for the past two years and was not the primary caregiver for a child at the time of arrest	1 point
History of Drug Abuse	If the defendant had a history of drug abuse	1 point

Appendix C: Virginia Pretrial Risk Assessment Instrument (VPRAI)

Appendix D: Coding Book

- Cause/Warrant Number
 - String variable
- Last Name, First Name
 - String variable
- Disposed/Dismissed
 - No (0)
 - Yes (1)
- Date of Birth
 - Format: MM/DD/YYYY
 - Gender
 - Male (0)
 - Female (1)
- Booking Date
 - Format: MM/DD/YYYY
- Offense
 - String variable
 - Current Offense: Most Serious
 - Additional Charge 1 (if applicable)
 - Additional Charge 2 (if applicable)
 - Additional Charge 3 (if applicable)
 - Additional Charge 4 (if applicable)
 - More than 4 Additional Charges (if applicable)
 - Under Supervision
 - No (0)
 - Yes (1)
 - Any other response (SYSMIS: "System Missing")
- 2 or More Prior Violent or Felony Convictions
 - No (0)
 - Yes (1)
 - Any other response (SYSMIS: "System Missing")
- Any Pending Charges
 - No (0)
 - Yes (1)
 - Any other response (SYSMIS: "System Missing")
- Been at This Location Less than One Year
 - No (0)
 - Yes (1)
 - Any other response (SYSMIS: "System Missing")
- Length of Current Employment
 - Unemployment (1)
 - Longer than 6 Months (2)
 - Housewife/Primary Caretaker > 2 Years (3)

- Full Time Student (4)
- Disabled (5)
- Less than 6 Months (6)
- Retired (7)
- Any other response (SYSMIS: "System Missing")
- Score: Length of Current Employment

• 0,1

- Months Worked for Pay within Last 12 Months
 - String variable
- First Arrest

٠

- No (0)
- Yes (1)
- Any other response (SYSMIS: "System Missing")
- Ever Been to Jail
 - No (0)
 - Yes (1)
 - Any other response (SYSMIS: "System Missing")
 - Continue to Question 25 "Have you Ever Spent More than a Week in Jail?"
 - No (0)
 - Yes (1)
 - Any other response (SYSMIS: "System Missing")
 - If "No" then skip to Question 27
- Hispanic or Latino
 - Pretrial report
 - No (0)
 - Yes (1)
 - Any other response (SYSMIS: "System Missing")
 - Odyssey
 - No (0)
 - Yes (1)
 - Any other response (SYSMIS: "System Missing")
- Race

•

- Pretrial report (disaggregated)
 - White (0)
 - Black or African American (1)
 - American Indian or Alaska Native (2)
 - Asian or Pacific Islander (3)
 - Other (4)
 - Any other response (SYSMIS: "System Missing")
- Pretrial report (dummy coded)
 - White (0)
 - Non-White (1)
 - Odyssey (disaggregated)
 - White (0)
 - Black or African American (1)

- American Indian or Alaska Native (2)
- Asian or Pacific Islander (3)
- Any other response (SYSMIS: "System Missing")
- Odyssey (dummy coded)
 - White (0)
 - Black or African American (1)
 - American Indian or Alaska Native (2)
 - Asian or Pacific Islander (3)
 - Any other response (SYSMIS: "System Missing")
- Typical Monthly Income
 - String variable
 - Format: ####.00
 - This will be coded using the following scale:
 - Under \$29,999 (0)
 - \$30,000-\$49,999(1)
 - \$50,000-\$74,999 (2)
 - \$75,000-\$99,999 (3)
 - \$100,000-\$149,999 (4)
 - \$150,000 or More (5)
- Number of Prior FTA in Court Resulting in a Warrant
 - String variables
 - Whole numbers only
- Number of Prior Misdemeanor Convictions
 - String variables
 - Whole numbers only
 - Number of Prior Felony Convictions
 - String variables
 - Whole numbers only
- Number of Prior DWI Arrests
 - String variables
 - Whole numbers only
- Number of Prior DWI Convictions
 - String variables
 - Whole numbers only
- How Many People Living with Defendant
 - String variables
 - Whole numbers only
 - Recommendation from SMART PRAXIS Guidelines
 - Administrative (0)
 - Standard (1)
 - Enhanced (2)
 - Intensive (3)
 - DWI (4)
- Veteran or Active Military
 - No (0)
 - Yes (1)

- Any other response (SYSMIS: "System Missing")
- Homeless
 - Currently Homeless
 - No (0)
 - Yes (1)
 - Any other response (SYSMIS: "System Missing")
 - Homeless in the Past Year
 - No (0)
 - Yes (1)
 - Any other response (SYSMIS: "System Missing")
- Length at Current Address
 - String variable
 - In years
 - If less than one year, divide by 12
- Length in the Area (El Paso)
 - String variable
 - In years
 - If less than one year, divide by 12
 - Number of Dependents
 - String variable
 - Whole numbers only
- How Much Money Can Be Raised in 24 Hours
 - Format: ####.00
- Posted Bond
 - Posted Cash
 - No (0)
 - Yes (1)
 - Any other response (SYSMIS: "System Missing")
 - Posted Surety
 - No (0)
 - Yes (1)
 - Any other response (SYSMIS: "System Missing")
 - Posted PR
 - No (0)
 - Yes (1)
 - Any other response (SYSMIS: "System Missing")
 - Posted Split (i.e., PR/Surety)
 - No (0)
 - Yes (1)
 - Any other response (SYSMIS: "System Missing")
 - Cash/Surety Amount
 - String variable
 - Format: ####.00
 - PR Amount
 - String variable
 - Format: ####.00

- Most Serious Financial Bond
 - PR (0)
 - Cash/Surety (1)
- Did the magistrate judge follow recommended PRAXIS guidelines?
 - No (0)
 - Yes (1)
 - Any other response (SYSMIS: "System Missing")
- Supervision Conditions Placed on Defendant
 - Only answered if defendant has PR or split bond
 - Copy/pasted from bond order
 - Separate each condition with semi-colon (;)
- Mental Health Flag
 - No (0)
 - Yes (1)
 - Any other response (SYSMIS: "System Missing")
- Release Date
 - Format: MM/DD/YYYY
- Case Outcome***
 - Failure to Appear (FTA)
 - No (0)
 - Yes (1)
 - Any other response (SYSMIS: "System Missing")
 - Failure to Comply (FTC)
 - No (0)
 - Yes (1)
 - Any other response (SYSMIS: "System Missing")
- New Arrest Pending Trial***
 - Non-violent
 - No (0)
 - Yes (1)
 - Any other response (SYSMIS: "System Missing")
 - Violent
 - No (0)
 - Yes (1)
 - Any other response (SYSMIS: "System Missing")
- Date of Recidivism (if any)
 - String variable
 - MM/DD/YYYY
- Pretrial Success***
 - No (0)
 - Yes (1)
 - Any other response (SYSMIS: "System Missing")
- Statistical Closure Date (as indicated by Odyssey)
 - String variable
 - MM/DD/YYYY

Vita

Chelsea Queen is a Legal Psychology doctoral student at The University of Texas at El Paso. She earned her Bachelor of Science from University of Oregon in Eugene, Oregon in 2017. Her primary research interests include understanding and assessing pretrial decision-making, pretrial policy reform, and the social stigma surrounding correctional policy. Ms. Queen has previously worked with Cascadia Behavioral Healthcare in Portland, Oregon as a Treatment Specialist II for individuals with Traumatic Brain Injuries (TBI) and co-occurring substance-abuse and/or mental health issues under the Psychiatric Security Review Board. Additionally, Ms. Queen has worked with Mental Health Association of San Mateo County in Redwood City, California as a Housing Case Manager for individuals engaged in County subsidized housing.

Contact Information: csqueen@miners.utep.edu